1951

Glenn Reynolds v. American Foundry and Machine Company : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff is an employee of Clarence W. Silver Company. Clarence W. Silver Company, as an independent contractor, on December 28, 1948, was doing work under contract for the defendant company in the repair of a transformer. Plaintiff sued defendant for defendant's claimed negligence. The jury awarded plaintiff a judgment of \$5,000.00 for special and general damages suf-

ferred as a result of an injury to the right hand of plaintiff, which injury occurred when a link in a chain block separated, dropping the load being lowered by the chain block.

The facts of the case are as follows: In 1937 the defendant corporation purchased and placed in operation a transformer, the core of which weighed six tons and was encased in a metal tank approximately twelve feet high, three feet in width and four and one-half feet in length. Clarence W. Silver, an electrical contractor, did the work of installing and placing the transformer in operation. At the time the transformer was purchased Clarence W. Silver recommended and subsequently directed the installation of a large I beam over the roof of the building encasing the transformer to be used as the support on which the chain block could be put for the purpose of raising and lowering the transformer core when repairs were needed. At the same time Clarence Silver directed the defendant company to purchase a six-ton chain block. (R. 121-122)

In 1937 the chain block was purchased new, and Silver was called to check the chain block by the manager of the defendant company. Silver inspected the chain block in the pattern shop, it having been just taken from the shipping package, and was "all kind of tied around so as to make a close package in shipping." (R. 132) At that time the chain block had its rated capacity stamped upon it as "six tons", and conformed to the specifications given by Silver. (R. 128) Silver then directed the boxing

of the chain block, and placed the chain block in the box in the transformer room. (R. 122-123)

In the first part of December, 1948, the transformer failed and Clarence Silver was called in to handle the repair. The core was taken from the tank by a crane, repaired and placed back in the tank and placed in operation.

Within a few days the transformer again failed and the crane was called in and the core removed. At that time it became evident that the repairs would cover a considerable period, and Silver directed that they use the chain block. (R. 140) At this time Silver knew that the chain block was being used for the first time since its purchase. (R. 140) The chain block was placed in position under the direction of Silver and the hand chain operated in accordance with the usual test made by Silver to see that the chain block was in functionable condition. The core was lowered by the crane on to the floor of the transformer building, and on the second day of the breakdown the chain block was used to raise the core and lower it back into a pan which had been prepared for that purpose. (R. 147) The core was then divided and the upper section, weighing approximately two tons, was raised up through the roof and held while repairs were made on the lower part of the transformer. (R. 148) Upon the core being repaired and assembled, the chain block was used to raise the entire six-ton weight of the core and hold it suspended while tests and infra-red treatment were given to it. (R. 150)

Approximately two weeks subsequent to the last breakdown the transformer had been repaired and action was proceeding by way of placing the transformer in the tank. The core had been raised with the chain block so that the bottom of the core was approximately fourteen feet above the floor of the transformer building.

The tank had been wheeled into position under the core and the core was being lowered into the tank. Four men were placed by Silver at each of the corners of the tank and were guiding the core into the tank. When the core had been lowered to a point where the bottom of the core had reached a point three feet below the top of the tank, a link in the chain block separated and dropped the core, and the right hand of plaintiff was struck by the 2 by 4's placed to aid in the assembling of the unit. (R. 155)

Plaintiff was taken to a doctor, where he received medical care. He lost approximately six weeks' work because of the injury. He submitted his claim to the Industrial Commission and was awarded compensation in the amount of \$1607.35. Sometime subsequent to that award this action was commenced.

There was no question of negligence involved in the operation of the chain block; in fact, Silver testified:

“Q. It came down just as evenly as you could possibly want it, isn't that correct?

“A. Well, the one thing that we were happy about in lowering it on this was that when we had lowered it previously with Mettome, with his hoist,

he would drop it about three inches at a time and the one purpose of putting this up was so we could let it down easy and slow.

"Q. And that was what was happening; it was coming down easy?

"A. Very, very easy. We were just letting it down an inch at a time.

"Q. And there was no jerking of the chain by those lowering the hoist?

"A. No.

"Q. They handled it properly in every way, in the maneuvering of the land chain and lowering it?

"A. Yes.

"Q. And when this core dropped was there any previous warning of any kind.

"A. No warning at all. It was a matter of split seconds. There was a big noise and that was the end of it." (R. 155)

The chain block was manufactured by the McColloum Hoist and Chain Company, a nationally advertised company whose products are known under the trade-name as indicated; it being a product known in the same sense in the industry as Yale & Towne, Reading and Chisholm. (R. 301, 302, 350, 351) A destructive test was made on the separated link, disclosing that the link had not been annealed, and apparently it was the only link in the chain block which had not received that treatment. (R. 175) Whether a link has been annealed or not can be determined only by a destructive test. (R. 175-178) This test

consists of cutting the link into sections, treating the exposed surfaces and subjecting the surfaces to microscopic examination.

The evidence of the experts is uncontroverted on the use of chains and customs in industry to the effect that the rating, capacity and performance of an assembled machine such as a chain block is accepted in industry, and tests for performance, capacity and inspection for satisfactory manufacture are not made before placing the machine in operation. Plaintiff's evidence was, and plaintiff's own experts testified without exception, that no test was ever made before the use of a chain block with manufacturer's rated capacity, and plaintiff's experts further testified that it was the practice to and in every instance they did rely upon the manufacturer's rated capacity.

Among plaintiff's witnesses were Clarence W. Silver, "who grew up with chain blocks" (R. 129); Niels Christensen, metallurgist for Combined Metals Reduction Company (R. 198), who stated, "Well, if the company is a reliable company you can accept the safe working load as the rated load." At Page 206 of the record, Christensen states that he had never been called upon to make a test of a chain block for his company, though the testing was the duty assigned to him by that company, and further states that it is the practice and custom for the industry and for his company to rely upon the rating of the manufacturer, and that no test is made to check the performance or capacity; further, that the

reason this is not done is because the manufacture of the entire unit of the block and chain provides the source where all various tests according to the National Safety Council are made for performance and specifications. (R. 207)

Further support of this custom appears in the testimony of Harry L. Young of the Harry L. Young Rigging & Trucking Company, and Fred Richeda of The Lang Company, who testified that the manufacturer's rating of capacity and performance of an assembled machine such as a block and chain is accepted in the industry, and tests of performance are not made before placing the machine in operation. (R. 178, 311) The only testing these experts could suggest to determine defects, particularly the latent defect in the link involved, would be a destructive test resulting in a complete loss of the machinery. (R. 178, 311)

The negligence specified by plaintiff appears at page 25 of the transcript, in Paragraph 6 of the Amended Complaint, as follows:

1. Inadequate, defective and negligent construction of the link by defendant or defendant's agent from whom the block chain was obtained.
2. Defendant's negligence in supplying a defective and inadequate chain block.
3. Failure to inspect and test the chain for tensile strength.

4. If a test was made, the test was inadequate and negligent.

5. If an adequate test was made, defendant knew of the defect and negligently and wantonly failed to notify plaintiff of the peril.

As to the performance and reliance to be placed by reason of performance on a block and chain, Fred Richeda of The Lang Company, and trained expert of many years' experience, states at Page 311 of the record:

“Well, after the load has once been taken on the chain block there is absolutely no reason to inspect the chain block, especially if it is held overnight or two weeks, the chain block has definitely proved itself by taking the load and holding.”

As indicated above, the chain block on several occasions had sustained and held the entire six-ton weight of the transformer core without evidencing or revealing any defect. As heretofore pointed out, the chain had operated perfectly over the two-weeks' period of its use and to the instant that the link failed.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

POINT NO. I.

UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE
THERE WAS NO DUTY ON THE DEFENDANT TO
MAKE AN INSPECTION OF THIS CHAIN BLOCK
AT ANY TIME.

(a) *The chain block having been purchased from a reputable manufacturer, it is presumed that it was manufactured, assembled, inspected and tested by experts before it was ever placed upon the market.*

(b) *There is no standard of care in the evidence showing the necessity of inspection or testing before a chain block is placed in use when it is purchased new from the manufacturer.*

(c) *There is no standard or evidence of any necessity, practice or custom for an inspection of a chain block following a period of and type of use as in this case.*

POINT NO. II.

ONE SUPPLYING CHATTELS GRATUITOUSLY FOR THE USE OF ANOTHER HAS NO DUTY TO DISCOVER LATENT DEFECTS.

POINT NO. III.

THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE IN PURCHASING FROM THE MANUFACTURER THE BLOCK AND CHAIN IN THIS CASE, AND THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THEY COULD CONSIDER THE PERSON FROM WHOM THE CHAIN BLOCK WAS PURCHASED AS NEGLIGENT.

POINT NO. IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING CHRISTENSEN TO GIVE HIS OPINION AS TO WHETHER

THE CHAIN BLOCK SHOULD HAVE BEEN INSPECTED AFTER IT HAD BEEN IN USE FOR A PERIOD OF FORTY-EIGHT HOURS.

POINT NO. V.

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS 7 AND 9 AND 2, 3 AND 4.

POINT NO. VI.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AND IN FAILING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS MADE TO THE COURT AT THE CONCLUSION OF PLAINTIFF'S CASE.

POINT NO. VII.

THE COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTIONS NOS. 4 AND 5.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I.

UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE THERE WAS NO DUTY ON THE DEFENDANT TO MAKE AN INSPECTION OF THIS CHAIN BLOCK AT ANY TIME.

(a) *The chain block having been purchased from a reputable manufacturer, it is presumed that it was manufactured, assembled, inspected and tested by experts before it was ever placed upon the market.*

The essential theory of liability upon which plaintiff originally predicated this action is that defendant owed a duty to make an inspection and test of the chain block prior to or at the time it was first used. This theory appears both in the original complaint (Paragraph 6, R. 2) and the amended complaint (Paragraph 6, R. 25-26). It affirmatively appears, however, from plaintiff's evidence that among persons and in industries using new chain blocks there is a practice and custom to rely upon the rated capacity of the manufacturer. No test is ever made of a new chain block when the manufacturer gives it a rating. This custom clearly appears from all the testimony of the witnesses in the action, and there is no evidence to the contrary. Mr. Clarence W. Silver testified as plaintiff's witness he "grew up with chain blocks." (R. 129) The chain block in question in this action was purchased under his general supervision and direction. He saw it when it arrived at the defendant's place of business in 1937. At this time it had just been removed from the shipping package. With reference to the condition of the chain block at the time of its arrival and necessity for a test, Mr. Silver testified as follows:

"Q. You were satisfied as to the chain by the rating that it bore from the manufacturer?

"A. My experience with chain blocks had been that when they marked a chain block for six ton or three ton you could carry without any danger six ton or three ton and they always were built with a safety factor in the chain block unit itself.

“Q. Now this examining as a complete unit from the manufacturer, is it your custom, or is it the recognized practice to rely upon the manufacturer’s rating of that block?

“MR. SMOOT: I will object to that as being incompetent, immaterial and irrelevant, Your Honor.

“THE COURT: The objection is overruled.

“A. I would answer that in this way. That when you buy a chain block which you consider is a good make block my experience—I don’t know whether it is a practice, I would change the wording on you—it has been my experience over my lifetime that if you bought from a responsible chain block hoist company that if the chain block was marked six ton you could lift six ton and you never needed to worry about it.

“Q. There was never need of any test. Let me speak of your experience. There was never any need of any test of any kind? You relied upon what the factory told you. It was—

“MR. SMOOT: I will object to that as being incompetent, Your Honor, as to whether or not he needed to rely on a test.

“THE COURT: The objection will be overruled.

“A. It has been my experience, or my practice to take for granted that the manufacturer would state on the block six ton and you could lift six ton without any danger.” (R. 32)

Neils Christensen, a metallurgist of Combined Metals Reduction Company, whose duties consisted of supervis-

ing use of chains in chain blocks in this company states: (R. 198) "Well, if the company is a reliable company, you can accept the safe working load as the rated load." He further states (R. 206) that he had never been called upon to make a test of a chain block for his company although testing was the duty assigned to him, and that the reason the test was not made of all new chains was that the practice and custom in the industry and for his company was to rely upon the rating by the manufacturer. He stated that it is well known in the industry that the manufacturer has the equipment and testing devices, and makes the tests required pursuant to the recommendations of the National Safety Council both as to performance and specifications. (R. 207) To the same effect it is the testimony of Harry L. Young, of the Harry L. Young Rigging & Trucking Company, and Fred Richeda, of the Lang Company. (R. 178, 311)

As is pointed out hereafter in the brief, no question was raised in the pleadings as to the fact that the chain block was purchased from a reliable manufacturer. The only test that could be made would result in a destruction of the chain itself. Certainly it would be unreasonable to require a test of this kind. The fact that it was purchased from a well known company implies that it was assembled, inspected and tested by experts. The manufacturer has all of the devices necessary to make proper testings. The fact that it was ordered and received as a chain block with a six ton rated capacity justifies the belief by defendant and its employers that its

performance and specifications would be adequate to the uses required of it.

(b) *There is no standard of care in the evidence showing the necessity of inspection or testing before a chain block is placed in use when it is purchased new from the manufacturer.*

In the case of *Dunagan v. Appalachian Power Co.*, 33 Fed. (2d) 876, (4 CCA), among the points raised in that case was the objection of counsel for plaintiff to an instruction given by the Court for the reason that it is claimed the instruction makes the custom of other companies the test of due care. The Court said: "There is another and even stronger reason why the instruction complained of cannot be held reversible error, even if we were to give it the construction for which plaintiff contends. There was no evidence upon which to base a contention that the exercise of due care in the matter of inspection required anything in addition of what was shown to be customary, and there was not even an allegation that the defendant was negligent in matter of inspection. It is true that the test of due care is not custom or usage but what reasonable proof would require under the circumstances, but as said by Judge Knapp, speaking for this Court in the case of *Southern Railway Co. v. Miller*, 267 Fed. 376 (4 CCA):

"Evidence of custom is always competent and often highly persuasive, and in the absence of any evidence tending to show that the custom followed by others in the business did not involve reason-

able care or of evidence upon which to base a conclusion that reasonable proof would have suggested additional precaution, it should not be held for reversible error that the Court adopted what was customary as the standard."

Continuing on with their discussion as to the custom being the basis for care and a conclusive basis, the Court stated in the *Dunagan* case:

"If there was nothing upon which to base a conclusion that reasonable proofs required anything more than the customary inspection, plaintiff could not have been injured by an instruction that defendant was required to make that which was customary."

In the case of *Lowden v. Hanson*, 134 Fed. (2d) 348, the Court states:

"The equipment having been purchased from a reputable manufacturer, we are clear that the defendants could not be charged with negligence because of any structural or inherent defect which was not patent at the time of its installation. Defendants were warranted in assuming in the absence of any notice to the contrary, that the equipment was without structural defects, and it was not incumbent upon them to dismantle the appliance and separate it into its various parts for the purpose of discovering possible defects. *It was manufactured, assembled, inspected and tested by experts before it was ever placed on the market. This was implied from the fact that the manufacturer was a reputable one.* While it was the duty of defendants to inspect this appliance, it is our view that in the absence of any evidence that it was not properly functioning, *defendants were not*

required to dismantle the appliance and submit it to a microscopic inspection or the other scientific tests suggested by one of the witnesses for the purpose of discovering possible structural defects. The functioning of the switch did not indicate any defect or break, nor did it give notice or warning of any deficiency. Under the undisputed evidence we are of the view that there was no negligence in failing to discover an alleged structural defect nor in failing to dismantle and subject the instrumentality to a microscopic inspection, there being no evidence of a custom of submitting such appliances to such a test." (emphasis supplied)

Further on in the opinion the Court states:

"In *McGivern v. Northern Pacific R. Co.*, 132 Fed. (2d) 213, we said: 'These instrumentalities were in general use and met with general approval for the performance of this work. Two other carriers doing switching in Minnesota were shown to follow exactly the same practice. While custom or usage may not be controlling as fixing the standard of care it may be accepted where the custom or practice is not in itself negligent or in disregard of the safety of the employee.' In *Canadian Northern R. Co. v. Senske*, supra, the late Judge Walter H. Sanborn, speaking for this court, among other things said (201 F. 643): 'The degree of care commonly exercised by other persons engaged in the same kind of business under similar circumstances presents such a standard. * * * the best test of actionable negligence and the true standard for the measurement of ordinary care is the degree of care which persons of ordinary intelligence and prudence, engaged in the same kind of business, commonly exercise

under like circumstances. If the care exercised in the case rises to or above that standard, there is no actionable negligence.' ”

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