1951

# Glenn Reynolds v. American Foundry and Machine Company : Brief of Plaintiff and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT NO. I

UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE THERE WAS A DUTY ON THE DEFENDANT TO TEST AND INSPECT THE CHAIN BLOCK ACCORDING TO THE BEST TESTS AVAILABLE.

(a) *The particular relations of the parties in this case were such as to place a duty in the defendant to test and inspect the chain block.*

The relations of the plaintiff and defendant were such as to place an especially high degree of care in the defendant toward the plaintiff with reference to the safety of the instrumentality which defendant furnished plaintiff. In spite of appellant's view to the contrary, respondent at the time of his injury was engaged in the business of servicing an instrument for the defendant, on defendant's premises, at defendant's urgent request, was using an instrumentality furnished by the defendant, and was using it along with his fellow employees and employer for the particular purpose for which it was supplied by the defendant and, at the time, operated by defendant's employees as they worked in



co-operation to get the work done for which Mr. Silver and his employees had been called.

It appears to the respondent that the vital questions in this case are: What, if any, is the liability of a vendee of an instrumentality, in which there is a defect from the time of its manufacture by the vendor, after the vendee in the furthering of his business interest supplies it to a third party who is injured as a result of the defect? Does such a supplier have the same duty of inspecting and testing as the manufacturer under all situations? Or does he have the same duty under limited situations, or does he have any duty at all with respect to the instrumentality?

The questions above have arisen very frequently where the supplier is furnishing elevator service to those who use the service to transact business in the building which the elevator serves. This situation is so common and the cases arising therefrom so numerous, that elevator cases are treated in legal treatises as a subject by itself which fact should not blind us to the basic legal questions which are present regardless of what the particular instrumentality may be. In these cases the law has placed a duty of a high degree of care upon those who would invite anyone upon their premises for business purposes and then place at the invitee's disposal or for his service an instrumentality, especially where the defects, if any, are latent and not readily observable by the invitee but which could be detected by the invitor by the best tests available.

In 18 Am Jur. 528, we read:

“The owner or operator of an elevator is not excused from the diligence otherwise exacted of him

by the fact that the elevator in question was constructed by a competent and skillful manufacturer, because the manufacturer is to be considered a mere agent or servant in its construction, for whose want of care, the owner or operator is responsible. The obligation of care and foresight rests on the person who has had the elevator constructed and he cannot shift it from himself to another. Therefore, if an innocent person suffers injuries by reason of some defect in the mechanism, the owner or operator is generally liable for the injuries, unless the defect or default was latent and could not have been discovered by a careful examination according to the best tests reasonably practicable."

It appears, therefore, that the negligence of the manufacturer in the construction of an instrumentality is imputed to anyone who later, as owner, supplies it for the use of another where the supplier has a pecuniary or business interest. The authors of the above quotation arrive at this conclusion by suggesting that the producer is an agent or servant of the supplier in the construction of the instrumentality. Although this is one way to approach the problem, the cases generally have developed a theory that deals directly with a supplier's responsibilities regardless of how he acquired the instrumentality. In developing a theory of responsibility for a supplier the courts have not been concerned as to how the supplier obtained the instrumentality, or how long the defendant has had it, or whether it has been in use; neither have the courts been concerned whether the supplier has retained control of its operation, or has placed it in plaintiff's hands as bailee to operate. These matters are merely incidental to the one controlling and dominating fact for which they look, viz., whether the



defendant has supplied the plaintiff, or the plaintiff's employer, with an instrumentality under circumstances in which not only the plaintiff is being benefited, but also in which the defendant has a pecuniary or business interest, and whether the supplier first took whatever steps were reasonably necessary to see that the instrumentality was free from defect and was capable of performing the job for which it was furnished.

This problem is treated rather exhaustively in 44 A.L.R. 1048 (1926) where under subheading IV is discussed the "Liability of contractee with respect to injuries resulting from defects in instrumentalities furnished for the purposes of the stipulated work."

It will be noted from this annotation that the New York Supreme Court of Appeals in the leading Coughtry case emphasizes that the plaintiff was injured while employed by the contractor working as an invitee on defendant's premises and scaffolding erected by the defendant, facts which the court thinks established (1) the business interest of the defendant and (2) the implication that defendant represents the structure to be safe since it was supplied by defendant for the express purpose of inducing the men who were to do the work to go upon it. This principle is well stated in a recent California case *Moran vs Zenith Oil Co.*, 206 P2d. 679 (June 7, 1949):

*"When the occupant of land knowingly permits a person to enter the premises for the purpose of performing acts which the workman has been employed to do, the proprietor is obligated to exercise reasonable care for the protection of the toiler."*

*He must supply a reasonably safe place in which the work is to be done and must furnish and maintain such tools and appliances as are necessary and reasonably safe for use in the operations. A laborer so employed is chargeable with neither a concealed nor a latent defect in the equipment supplied. In the event he is injured as a result of a latent defect in the instrumentalities furnished him of which he is ignorant, he may recover damages for resulting injuries, if it is shown that the employer, licensor or proprietor knew or by the exercise of reasonable care should have known of the defect and has failed to effect a repair thereof or to warn the workman.* (italics supplied)

“ \* \* \* Appellant invited respondent to work upon its premises and furnished him with its own instrumentality which proved to be in disrepair. That the defect was not readily apparent is established by the fact that the faulty cable was subjected to the usual inspection before use, once by appellant’s employee, McGee, in the presence of the crew foreman and again by the latter’s crew on the day of the accident. When on the latter occasion it was scraped with a knife, shiny steel appeared beneath the rust. It cannot be said that the rust covering the cable was itself an indication of imminent peril. Many witnesses testified that all cables in the area accumulate rust after short exposure to the elements. Concededly, appellant may not have known of the dangerous condition of the cable, *but on the facts established it cannot be said that the jury was arbitrary in finding that by the exercise of reasonable care appellant could have discovered the peril* and thus have prevented injury to any employee. McGee [supt. for appellant] testified that the cable had been hanging in the derrick in excess of five years and to his knowledge had never been

greased or oiled against the elements *or tested for tensile strength*. In addition, there was expert testimony that other operating oil companies serviced their hanging cables every two or three years to prevent corrosion and deterioration. Such lack of diligence to prevent injury to workmen falls below the *high standard of care required in employing those who are to work under circumstances involving a high risk to personal safety.*" (italics supplied)

An earlier California case, but still quite recent is *Sheward Et Al vs Bullock's Inc. Et Al* (120 P2d 142). The plaintiff Mrs. Robert Sheward, while sitting in a metal chair in the beauty parlor of defendant, Bullocks, for the purpose of receiving a treatment, was precipitated to the floor when the front right leg of the chair was broken. She sustained serious personal injury. Among other things the court said:

"Plaintiffs base their cause of action upon the alleged negligence of appellants in the manufacturing and assembling of the cast iron chair which the latter had sold to Bullock's, Inc. some nine months before plaintiff received her injuries. *On receipt of it, Bullock's carefully inspected the chair and during all of the time the chair was in the beauty parlor, it underwent tests for its strength and soundness.* Bullock's had an employee weighing 250 lbs. to test the chair twice weekly by riding back and forth across the floor. He also washed, oiled and inspected it at the same time. *Such care exemplified the duty imposed upon the vendee of a manufacturer.* Re-statement of the Law of Torts, Section 396.

If the same degree of care which was used by Bullock's in testing the chair had been exercised by defendant in the

case now before the court, the weakness in the link would have been discovered, and we repeat the court's words: "Such care exemplified the duty imposed upon the vendee of a manufacturer." In other words the duty of testing and inspecting by the best means available is definitely imposed upon the supplier of an instrumentality where the supplier has a business interest.

The views of Harper on Torts at Section 105 and the cases and annotations referred to above have been adopted by the restators of the Law of Torts, Section 392 which is quoted in appellant's brief at pp 38-39. In commenting on sub-paragraph 2, Section 392 the restators make this statement:

"Section 392 states the rule under which a peculiar liability is imposed upon one supplying chattels for another's use because of the fact that the use is one in which the supplier has a business interest. A person so supplying goods is required not only to give warning of dangers which he knows are involved in the use of the article, or which, from facts within his knowledge, he knows are likely to be so involved but also to subject the article to such an inspection as the danger of using it in a defective condition makes it reasonable to require. The additional duty of inspection thrown upon the person so supplying chattels for a use in which he has a business interest as compared with the absence of any such duty when he has no business interest in the use for which the chattel is supplied, is analogous to the duty of inspection imposed upon one who permits another to come upon his land for his business purpose and the absence of such duty where the permission is granted for any other reason."

Section 392 together with the restator's comment as above quoted was cited with approval by the Supreme Court of Ohio in the case of Hilleary vs Bromley Et Al (January 1946) 64 NE 2d 835. This case is especially instructive here because of the facts:

"In 1940 the defendants \* \* \* were partners \* \* \* and were engaged in the business of furnishing, selling and applying roll siding on dwelling houses.

"Prior to April 6, 1940 they agreed to apply siding on a dwelling house on Hasack Street in the City of Columbus. The defendants in turn entered into a sub-contract with the plaintiff whereby the latter agreed to apply the siding on the house in question, and the defendants agreed to furnish the plaintiff, for such purpose, equipment consisting of ladders, jacks, and planks.

"Pursuant to such agreement, the defendants furnished and delivered to the plaintiff, at the site where the siding was to be applied, the equipment above mentioned, with the knowledge that the ladders so furnished were expected to bear the weight of one or two men, the jacks, the planks and sufficient material which might weigh about 75 lbs., to cover the surface being worked upon.

"The plaintiff inspected the ladders each day he used them but discovered no defects therein. There was no inspection of the ladders to determine the weight, stress or strain which they would bear except by the manufacturer thereof, and the evidence discloses no specific inspection of the ladder in question by defendants for any purpose. The ladders were painted by the defendants after they



came into their possession and before they were delivered to the plaintiff, which, to some extent, obscured the grain of the wood.

“On April 6, 1940, the fourth day after the work had been started on this job, the plaintiff placed three of the ladders against the side of the house approximately ten feet apart. The jacks were hooked upon and suspended from the upper rungs of the ladder and in turn supported two planks extending between the ladders. While the plaintiff and a helper were standing on one of these planks, suspended between an end ladder and the middle ladder, the inside rail or upright of the end ladder broke into the third rung and then split at the rung down past fourth rung and out between the fourth and fifth rungs, with the result that the plank upon which the plaintiff was standing and the plaintiff himself were precipitated to the ground, a distance of about sixteen feet. Plaintiff’s foot was severely injured, resulting in a permanent impairment.

“A subsequent examination of the ladder rail indicated that the split followed the grain of the wood. The defendants claim that the ladders had been inspected before they were delivered to the plaintiff, *but the record discloses no evidence of any particular inspection by any particular person.*

“The plaintiff brought this action to recover damages for his injuries alleging in his petition that they resulted from the negligence of the defendants in furnishing him a ladder which was defective and inadequate for the purpose for which it was to be used. \* \* \* ”

The court upholds the plaintiff’s views concerning liability and gives a well reasoned opinion for so doing. In

view of its length we shall not quote further from the case but urge its careful consideration upon the court.

The principles thus far discussed concerning a supplier's duties toward the users of a chattel which is supplied in the furtherance of the supplier's business interest are especially applicable where there is great potential danger of serious injury and loss of life if the chattel fails in doing the thing for which it is supplied. In the case at bar the chattel which is supplied was furnished to lift and suspend over a number of workmen a weight of 12,000 pounds of a relatively bulky mechanism, that is, bulky in relation to the amount of space left in which the men could work in the small building which housed the transformer, and also bulky in relation to the size of the men themselves. To emphasize the peril of the situation we need only reflect what would have happened to the men below if the link had broken a few moments sooner when the core had not yet started into the container. What chance would the men below have had to escape being crushed to death?

With reference to the importance of considering the presence of great danger and its relation to the amount of care required, our Supreme Court has said in the case of *White vs Pinney*, 108P2 249:

"Of course what constitutes 'reasonable care' or the care that would be exercised by a person of ordinary prudence may vary with the nature of the instrumentality employed, that is, the care must be proportionate to the probability of injury that may arise to others. For example, in cases where wires carry a dangerous current of electricity or where explosives are handled, and the result of negligence



might be death or serious accidents, a greater care is required because of the danger inherent in the instrumentality. With such things an act may well be negligence which would not be such with instrumentalities of less potential danger to others. Where the danger is great the care exercised must be commensurate with it. The degree of care required in law is proportionate to the dangers that reasonable men would apprehend under the circumstances. Failure to exercise such degree of care is negligence, and negligence is the gravamen of the action."

(b) *Even if the chain block was purchased from a reputable manufacturer (which is not conceded in this case) it cannot be presumed that the chain block was adequately inspected and tested by the manufacturer unless the vendee obtained from the manufacturer a certificate to the effect that it had been so tested and inspected. However, because of the particular relations of the parties in this case such a presumption, even if it were justified, <sup>would</sup> did not relieve the defendant itself from a duty to adequately inspect and test.*

This is <sup>in</sup> ~~an~~ answer to appellant's Point I (a).

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